
 

 

 
APOLOGIES Committee Services   

Email: Committee.clerk@maldon.gov.uk   

    

    

   DIRECTOR OF STRATEGY, 
PERFORMANCE AND 
GOVERNANCE’S OFFICE 

   DIRECTOR OF STRATEGY, 
PERFORMANCE AND GOVERNANCE 
Paul Dodson 

    
   23 March 2021 

 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are summoned to attend the meeting of the; 
 
CENTRAL AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE  
 
on WEDNESDAY 31 MARCH 2021 at 6.00 pm. 
 
Please note that this will be a remote meeting – Members to access the meeting via Microsoft 
Teams.  Members of the press and public may listen to the live stream via the Council’s 
YouTube channel. 
 
A copy of the agenda is attached. 

 

Yours faithfully 

 
Director of Strategy, Performance and Governance 

 

 

 

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP CHAIRMAN Councillor M R Edwards 

 VICE-CHAIRMAN Councillor Mrs J C Stilts 
   

 COUNCILLORS Miss A M Beale 

M S Heard 

K M H Lagan 

C Mayes 

C Morris 

S P Nunn 

N G F Shaughnessy 

C Swain 

 
Please note: Electronic copies of this agenda and its related papers 

are available via the Council’s website www.maldon.gov.uk. 

Unrestricted Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCWKn8R24ZTbD3eaEJtq6bYw/featured
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCWKn8R24ZTbD3eaEJtq6bYw/featured
http://www.maldon.gov.uk/


 

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK



 

Page 3 

AGENDA 

CENTRAL AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 

WEDNESDAY 31 MARCH 2021 

 

1. Chairman's notices   

 

2. Apologies for Absence   

 

3. Minutes of the last meeting  (Pages 7 - 8) 

 

 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 24 February 2021 

(copy enclosed). 

 

4. Disclosure of Interest   

 

 To disclose the existence and nature of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, other 

Pecuniary Interests or Non-Pecuniary Interests relating to items of business on the 

agenda having regard to paragraphs 6-8 inclusive of the Code of Conduct for Members. 

 

(Members are reminded that they are also required to disclose any such interests as 

soon as they become aware should the need arise throughout the meeting). 

 

5. 20/01315/FUL - Land Adjacent Heybridge House Industrial Estate, Bates Road, 

Maldon, Essex  (Pages 9 - 28) 

 

 To consider the report of the Director of Service Delivery (copy enclosed, Members’ 

Update to be circulated)*. 
 

6. 21/00064/HOUSE - 21 Essex Road, Maldon, CM3 2HQ  (Pages 29 - 38) 

 

 To consider the report of the Director of Service Delivery (copy enclosed, Members’ 

Update to be circulated)*. 
 

7. Any other items of business that the Chairman of the Committee decides are 

urgent   

 

 

 

 



 

Page 4 

 
 

NOTICES 

 

Sound Recording of Meeting 

Please note that the Council will be recording and publishing on the Council’s website any 

part of this meeting held in open session.  At the start of the meeting an announcement will 

be made about the recording.   

 

Note: 

1. The Council operates a facility for public participation.  This will operate only in 

relation to the consideration and determination of planning applications under 

Agenda Item Nos. 5-6. 

2.  The Committee may consider representation from one objector, one supporter, a 

Parish / Town Council representative, and the applicant / agent.  Please note that the 

opportunity to participate is afforded only to those having previously made written 

representation. 

3.  Anyone wishing to participate must register by completing the online form (link 

below) no later than noon on the working day before the Committee meeting 

www.maldon.gov.uk/publicparticipation.  The first person to register in each category 

will be sent a Microsoft Teams invitation which will allow them to join the ‘live’ 

meeting to make their statement. 

4.  For further information please see the Council’s website – 

www.maldon.gov.uk/committees  

* Please note the list of related Background Papers attached to this agenda. 

 

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/publicparticipation
http://www.maldon.gov.uk/committees


 

Page 5 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

The Background Papers listed below have been relied upon in the preparation of this report: 

1. The current planning applications under consideration and related correspondence. 

2. All third party representations and consultation replies received. 

3. The following Statutory Plans and Supplementary Planning Guidance, together with 

relevant Government legislation, Circulars, Advice, Orders, Directions and Guidance: 

 

Development Plans 

 Maldon District Local Development Plan approved by the Secretary of State 21 July 

2017 

 Burnham-On-Crouch Neighbourhood Development Plan (2017) 

 

Legislation 

 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 

 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

 Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 

 The Planning and Compensation Act 1991  

 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 

 The Planning Act 2008 

 The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as 

amended) 

 The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 

Order 2010 

 The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) 

 The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regs 2007 

 The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regs 2011 

 Localism Act 2011 

 The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 

 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as 

amended) 

 Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013 

 Housing and Planning Act 2016 

 Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 

 The Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) Regulations 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 6 

Supplementary Planning Guidance and Other Advice 

i) Government policy and guidance  

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - 2018 

 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)  

 Planning policy for Traveller sites - 2015 

 Relevant government circulars 

 Relevant Ministerial Statements (as referred to in the report) 

 Essex and South Suffolk Shoreline Management Plan – October 2010 

ii) Essex County Council 

 Essex Design Guide 1997 (Note: superseded by Maldon District Design Guide 2018) 

 Essex and Southend on Sea Waste Local Plan 2017 

 Essex Minerals Local Plan 2014 

iii) Maldon District Council 

 Five Year Housing Land Supply Statement 2017 / 18 

 Maldon District Design Guide – 2017 

 Maldon and Heybridge Central Area Masterplan - 2017 

 Infrastructure Delivery Plan (All versions, including update in Council’s 

Hearing Statement) 

 Infrastructure Phasing Plan (January 2015 and January 2017 update for 

Examination) 

 North Heybridge Garden Suburb Strategic Masterplan Framework - 2014 

 South Maldon Garden Suburb Strategic Masterplan Framework – 2014 

(adapted as Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 2018) 

 Vehicle Parking Standards SPD - 2018 

 Renewable and Low Carbon Technologies SPD – 2018 

 Maldon District Specialist Housing SPD – 2018 

 Affordable Housing and Viability SPD – 2018 

 Accessibility to Buildings SPD – December 2006 

 Children’s Play Spaces SPD – March 2006 

 Sadd’s Wharf SPD – September 2007 

 Heybridge Basin Timber Yard SPD – February 2007 

 Developer Contributions Guide SPD - 2010 

 Heybridge Basin Village Design Statement – 2007 

 Wickham Bishops Village Design Statement – 2011 

 Woodham Walter Village Design Statement – 2011 

 Althorne Village Design Statement 

 Woodham Walter Village Design Statement 

 Various Conservation Area Appraisals 

 

All Background Papers are available for inspection at the Maldon District Council Offices, 

Princes Road, Maldon, Essex CM9 5DL during normal office hours. 



 

405 

MINUTES of 

CENTRAL AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 

24 FEBRUARY 2021 

 

PRESENT 

 

Chairman Councillor M R Edwards 

Vice-Chairman Councillor Mrs J C Stilts 

Councillors Miss A M Beale, M S Heard, K M H Lagan, C Mayes, 

C Morris, S P Nunn, N G F Shaughnessy and C Swain 

283. CHAIRMAN'S NOTICES  

 

The Chairman welcomed everyone to the remote meeting, held under new regulations 

which came into effect on 4 April 2020 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.  He 

took Members through some general housekeeping issues, together with the etiquette 

for the meeting and then asked Officers and Councillors in attendance to introduce 

themselves. 

 

This was followed by a roll call of all Committee Members present. 

 

284. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

There were none. 

 

285. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 

RESOLVED by assent that the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 2 

December 2020 be approved and confirmed. 

 

286. DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST  

 

Councillor C Morris disclosed a non-pecuniary interest in Agenda Item 5 – 

20/01208/LBC, The Waffle Bar, 144 High Street, Maldon, CM9 5BX, as he had 

frequented the Waffle Bar. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Unrestricted Document Pack

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



406 

287. 20/01208/LBC - THE WAFFLE BAR, 144 HIGH STREET, MALDON, CM9 5BX  

 

Application Number 20/01208/LBC 

Location The Waffle Bar, 144 High Street, Maldon, CM9 5BX 

Proposal Remove brick pier/pillar to the east boundary wall. 

Applicant Southend & District Building Preservation Trust (East) Ltd 

Target Decision Date 26.02.2021 

Case Officer Hannah Dungate 

Parish MALDON NORTH 

Reason for Referral to 

the Committee / Council 

Member call-in by Councillor C Mayes 

Reason: D1, D3 and S3 

 

Following the Officer’s presentation, an Objector, Mr David Smye on behalf of The 

Maldon Society, addressed the Committee.  

 

The Chairman moved the Officer’s recommendation that planning application 

20/01208/LBC – The Waffle Bar, 144 High Street, Maldon be approved subject to the 

conditions as detailed in section 8 of the report, this was duly seconded. 

 

Councillor S P Nunn provided historical context for the rounded brick pier features and 

associated wall, and a discussion ensued as to the importance of the piers to the wall 

stability and its current condition.  A debate ensued where concerns were raised as to 

the cumulative effect of other piers having been previously removed from the wall. 

 

There being no further debate the Chairman put the Officer’s recommendation of 

approval to the Committee.  Upon a vote being taken it was lost. 

 

Councillor Nunn having spoken against the application in the earlier debate proposed 

that the buttress be retained, contrary to the Officer’s recommendation, for the reason 

that it was an integral part of the design of a historically significant feature within the 

curtilage of No. 144 High Street.  This was duly seconded.   

 

The Chairman put Councillor Nunn’s proposal to refuse the application for the 

aforementioned reason to the Committee and upon a vote being taken it was refused. 

 

RESOLVED that the application be REFUSED for the reason as detailed above. 

 

There being no further items of business the Chairman closed the meeting at 6.36 pm. 

 

 

 

M R EDWARDS 

CHAIRMAN 

Page 8



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

Our Vision: Sustainable Council – Prosperous Future 

REPORT of 

DIRECTOR OF SERVICE DELIVERY 

to 

CENTRAL AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 

31 MARCH 2021 
 

Application Number 20/01315/FUL 

Location 
Land Adjacent Heybridge House Industrial Estate, Bates Road, 

Maldon, Essex 

Proposal 
Construction of open sided storage barn (resubmission of 

20/00388/FUL) 

Applicant Mr R Smith 

Agent Mr P Calder – Real8 

Target Decision Date 06.04.2021 

Case Officer Kathryn Mathews 

Parish MALDON NORTH  

Reason for Referral to the 

Committee / Council 

Major application 

Member call-in – Councillor C Mayes for the following reasons:  

D1 (3.2; 3.5. 3.7);  

D2 (3.11; 3.14; 3.15; 3.17) 

E1 (4.6; 4.13) 

H4 (5.27) 

N2 (6.15) 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

 

REFUSE for the reasons as detailed in Section 8 of this report. 

2. SITE MAP 

 

Please see overleaf. 

 

  

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

  

Page 10



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

3. SUMMARY 

 

3.1 Proposal / brief overview, including any relevant background information 

 

3.1.1 This application relates to the parcel of land (around 0.63ha) to the north of Bates 

Road which is currently vacant.  The site is undulating with an existing public 

footpath located on an embankment which runs along the southern boundary.  The site 

has a further public footpath running along its north-eastern perimeter connecting 

Bates Road to Hall Road and The Street in Heybridge to the north.  The site has been 

largely cleared of vegetation but there are a few trees within the site.  The majority of 

the site is currently enclosed by a mixture of palisade fencing (south-eastern and part 

of north-eastern boundaries) and post and wire fencing (south-western and north-

western boundaries). 

 

3.1.2 The northern boundary of the site is adjacent to part of the River Blackwater.  Beyond 

the north-eastern boundary of the site is a mixture of residential and commercial uses 

which back onto the site including the Heybridge Inn which is a grade II listed 

building located around 20m to the north of the site.  The nearest residential property 

is 10m from the site and around 20m from the building proposed.  The site adjoins the 

Quayside Industrial Estate and is adjacent to an existing car park which is unrelated to 

the site.  The Heybridge House Industrial Estate is located immediately to the west. 

 

3.1.3 The site is within the development boundary for Maldon/Heybridge but does not form 

part of any allocation within the approved Maldon District Local Development Plan 

(MDLDP).  However, the adjacent industrial estate is an allocated employment site in 

the Local Development Plan (LDP).  The site forms part of the Causeway 

Regeneration Area which is within the Maldon and Heybridge Central Area 

Masterplan.  As part of the Masterplan, the application is identified as a site of Local 

Ecological Importance and the stretch of the River Blackwater forms part of a Green 

Corridor. 

 

3.1.4 The site is located within Flood Zone 3b (the functional flood plain) and the 

Blackwater Estuary Ramsar site, Special Protection Area (SPA), Special Area of 

Conservation (SAC) and Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) are located around 

400m to the south east of the site. 

 

3.1.5 It is proposed to erect 1139.6 square metres of storage and distribution (Class B8) 

floorspace in the form of a new open sided barn to be positioned at the northern end 

of the site.  As part of the application, reference is made to the new building being 

used to store, for example, heavy construction and engineering goods but reference is 

also made to the building being used for the storage of recycling bins. 

 

3.1.6 The building would measure 51.8m in length and 22m in width.  It would have a 

shallow pitched roof with a maximum height of 7.3m and an eaves height of 3.3m.  

The building would be finished in grey cladding. 

 

3.1.7 8no. lorry parking spaces (17m x 3.5m), 13no. parking spaces, two disability parking 

spaces and an area for cycle parking would be provided towards the southern end of 

the site.  Access to the site would be taken from an existing access off Bates Road 

which also provides access to an existing car park to the south of the site. 

 

Page 11



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

3.1.8 In terms of employment, it is stated that there would be 7 full time and 5 part time 

employees (10 full time equivalent). 

 

3.1.9 As part of the application, it is explained that Land Drainage Byelaws require 

buildings to be at least 9m distance from part of the River Blackwater (which is 

located adjacent to the north east boundary of the site).  The applicant states that this 

distance has been observed through the creation of a 10m wide 'ecological 

enhancement area'.  It is also proposed that a strip of land to the southwest of the site 

will benefit from 'ecological enhancement'. 

 

3.1.10 There are a number of documents submitted with the application including a Planning 

Statement, a Design and Access Statement, Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) (April 

2020), Sequential Test (December 2020), Landscape Summary, Essex Biodiversity 

Validation Checklist, Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (April 2020), Environmental 

Noise Assessment (May 2020), Arboricultural Impact Assessment (May 2020), 

Economic Statement (May 2020), Drainage Strategy Report rev.A,  Transport 

Statement (April 2020) and a Health Impact Assessment (May 2020) which concludes 

that the screening exercise carried-out shows that the proposal either has a positive or 

neutral impact upon the determinants of health.  

 

3.1.11 The current application has been submitted following the refusal of planning 

permission for a similar scheme (reference 20/00388/FUL).  The reasons for refusal 

were as follows: 

 

1. The applicant has failed to meet the requirements of the flood risk Sequential Test 

and, therefore, the proposal is unacceptable on flood risk grounds, contrary to 

Policies S1 and D5 of the approved Maldon District Local Development Plan and 

the NPPF. 

2. The proposal would fail to accommodate the demand for car parking, bicycle 

storage and lorry parking which, in turn, will lead to cars and lorries parking off-

site elsewhere within the adjacent industrial estate potentially causing conditions 

of obstruction, congestion and danger to other road users to the detriment of 

highway safety and the quality of this allocated employment site, contrary to 

Policies T2, E1 and D1 of the Maldon District Approved Local Development 

Plan. 

3. There is a lack of certainty and clarity regarding the means of surface water 

drainage from the development proposed. Therefore, it has not been demonstrated 

to the satisfaction of the local planning authority that an adequate means of 

surface water drainage would be provided and that the development would not 

result in an increase in flood risk, contrary to Policy D5 of the approved Maldon 

District Local Development Plan and the NPPF. 

4. The development (which consists of a large, open-sided building to be used for 

storage and distribution purposes only 10m from the curtilage of a dwellinghouse) 

has the potential to cause harm to the occupiers of existing, residential properties, 

particularly due to noise disturbance, contrary to Policies D1 and D2 of the 

Maldon District Approved Local Development Plan, the NPPF and the Maldon 

District Design Guide SPD. 

 

3.1.12 The current scheme includes the following amendments and additional/revised 

information: 

 The floorspace of the building has been reduced from 1,408sq.m. to 1139.6sq.m. 

Page 12



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

 The depth of the building has been reduced from 64m to 51.8sq.m. 

 The number of car parking spaces has been increased from 10 to a total of 15 

spaces and 8no. lorry parking spaces are also now proposed. 

 Sequential Test document. 

 Revised Drainage Strategy Report. 

  

3.1.13 In response to the previous concerns raised regarding the impact of the proposed 

development on local residents, it is reiterated that an acoustic fence is proposed along 

the east and north of the site which would reduce the predicted noise levels by 5 dB at 

the nearest dwellings from LAeq 46 dBA to LAeq 41 dBA.  Noise contours of 

predicted emissions are shown in Figure 5 of the submitted noise report.  This 

mitigation would reduce the assessment level from +10 “Significant Adverse Impact” 

to +5 “Adverse Impact”.  The applicant considers that this is acceptable for a “worst-

case” assessment in a mixed use residential/industrial area.  The applicant has also 

highlighted that the reduced scale of the barn would reduce activities on the site 

compared to that previously proposed.  However, the Acoustic Report submitted is the 

same as that received as part of the previous application (20/00388/FUL). 

 

3.2 Conclusion 

 

3.2.1 The development would potentially result in economic benefits and no objections to 

the proposal are raised in relation to the impact of the proposal on the character and 

appearance of the area and nature conservation.  The development would 

satisfactorily accommodate the demand for car parking, bicycle storage and lorry 

parking. 

 

3.2.2 However, the development does not comply with the flood risk Sequential Test and is, 

therefore, not acceptable from a flood risk perspective.  

 

3.2.3 The proposal would also have the potential to cause harm to the amenity of the 

neighbouring residents. 

 

3.2.4 Furthermore, there is a lack of certainty and clarity regarding the means of surface 

water drainage from the development proposed.  Therefore, it has not been 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the local planning authority that an adequate means 

of surface water drainage would be provided and that the development would not 

result in an increase in flood risk. 

 

3.2.5 The current application has, therefore, not overcome all of the reasons the previous 

application was refused and it is recommended below that planning permission is 

refused. 

4. MAIN RELEVANT POLICIES 

 

Members’ attention is drawn to the list of background papers attached to the agenda. 

 

4.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 including paragraphs: 

 7 Sustainable development 

 8 Three objectives of sustainable development 

 10-12 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

Page 13



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

 38 Decision-making 

 47-50 Determining applications 

 80-82 Building a Strong, Competitive Economy 

 117-118 Making effective use of land 

 124-132 Achieving well-designed places 

 148-169 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 

change 

 184-192 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 

4.2 Maldon District Local Development Plan 2014 – 2029 approved by the Secretary 

of State: 

 

 S1  Sustainable Development 

 S5  Maldon and Heybridge Central Area 

 S8  Settlement Boundaries and the Countryside  

 D1  Design Quality and Built Environment 

 D2  Climate Change and Environmental Impact of New 

Development 

 D3   Conservation and Heritage Assets 

 D4  Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation 

 D5  Flood Risk and Coastal Management 

 E1  Employment 

 T1  Sustainable Transport 

 T2  Accessibility 

 

4.3 Relevant Planning Guidance / Documents: 

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

 Car Parking Standards (VPS) 

 Maldon District Design Guide (MDDG) SPD 

 Maldon and Heybridge Central Area Masterplan 

5. MAIN CONSIDERATIONS 

 

5.1 The main issues which require considered as part of the determination of this 

application are the principle of the development, the impact of the development on the 

character and appearance of the area, the impact on the amenity of local residents, 

highway safety/access/parking, flood risk and drainage, and the impact of the 

development on nature conservation. 

 

5.2 Principle of Development 

 

5.2.1 Policy S1 refers to the NPPF’s presumption in favour of sustainable development and 

makes specific reference to the local economy, housing growth, effective use of land, 

Page 14



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

prioritising development on previously developed land, design, the environment, 

sustainable communities, the effects of climate change, avoiding flood risk areas, the 

historic environment, local infrastructure and services, character and appearance, and 

minimising need to travel.  One of the aims of this Policy is to ensure a healthy and 

competitive local economy by providing sufficient space, flexibility and training 

opportunities for both existing and potential businesses in line with the needs and 

aspirations of the District. 

 

5.2.2 Policy E1 states that the Council will encourage employment generating 

developments and investments in the District which would include the regeneration, 

modernisation and expansion of existing employment sites, especially where this 

supports the retention of existing businesses and/or provides employment space that 

meets the current needs of local businesses in the District.  Outside designated 

employment allocations, new provision for high quality employment space or the 

expansion of existing employment areas will be considered favourably subject to 

design, environment and infrastructure considerations. 

 

5.2.3 The site is within the development boundary for Maldon but in an area of no 

annotation within the approved LDP.  The site is within the area covered by the 

Maldon and Heybridge Central Area Masterplan as part of which the site is identified 

as within an area of Local Ecological Importance.  The means of access to the site is 

through a designated employment area Quayside Industrial Estate associated with 

Bates Road to the south. 

 

5.2.4 Notwithstanding being identified as an area of Local Ecological Importance (the issue 

of ecology is discussed in section 5.7 below), the site is adjacent to and would be 

accessed through an adjacent, allocated industrial estate.  Therefore, whilst Policy E1 

aims to create new employment areas primarily through site allocations, it is 

considered that the proposal could be considered as an expansion of the existing 

employment site.  Furthermore, the development of this site for employment purposes 

has previously been found to be acceptable (reference 11/01100/FUL) and there is an 

extant planning permission for the development of the site as a car park associated 

with a neighbouring industrial unit (reference 96/00615/FUL).  On this basis, but 

subject to an assessment of the proposal against all other material planning 

considerations, no objection is raised to the principle of the development of the site 

for employment purposes.  The proposed development of the site for a business use 

would create employment opportunities and benefit the area economically both during 

construction and when the use is in operation.  This issue weighs in favour of the 

development proposed, albeit to a limited degree as the use is only expected to 

generate full-time equivalent employment for 10 people.  

 

5.3 Design and Impact on the Character of the Area 

 

5.3.1 The planning system promotes high quality development through good inclusive 

design and layout, and the creation of safe, sustainable, liveable and mixed 

communities.  Good design should be indivisible from good planning.  Recognised 

principles of good design seek to create a high-quality built environment for all types 

of development. 

 

5.3.2 It should be noted that good design is fundamental to high quality new development 

and its importance is reflected in the NPPF.  The NPPF states that: 

Page 15



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

 

“The creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the 

planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of 

sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps 

make development acceptable to communities”.    

 

“Permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take the 

opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the 

way it functions, taking into account any local design standards or style guides in 

plans or supplementary planning documents”. 

 

5.3.3 This principle has been reflected to the approved LDP.  The basis of policy D1 of the 

approved LDP seeks to ensure that all development will respect and enhance the 

character and local context and make a positive contribution in terms of:-  

 

a) Architectural style, use of materials, detailed design features and 

construction methods. Innovative design and construction solutions 

will be considered where appropriate; 

b) Height, size, scale, form, massing and proportion;  

c) Landscape setting, townscape setting and skylines;  

d) Layout, orientation, and density;  

e) Historic environment particularly in relation to designated and non-

designated heritage assets;  

f) Natural environment particularly in relation to designated and non-

designated sites of biodiversity / geodiversity value; and 

g) Energy and resource efficiency. 

 

5.3.4 Similar support for high quality design and the appropriate layout, scale and detailing 

of development is found within the MDDG (2017). 

 

5.3.5 The site, whilst being to the rear of buildings which front Bates Road to the south, is 

in a highly visible and prominent location as a result of the public footpath which runs 

along the south-eastern and the southern half of the eastern boundary of the site and 

an elevated public footpath which is located within the site and which runs along its 

south-western boundary.  

 

5.3.6 The building proposed would be substantial in size but would be adjacent to and 

viewed in the context of an existing industrial estate.  The appearance and height of 

the building would be comparable to the industrial buildings which already exist in 

the vicinity of the site and, therefore, it is considered that the development would not 

appear incongruous or out-of-keeping with its surroundings.  The height and design of 

the acoustic fence proposed has not been provided as part of the application, but it is 

not anticipated that an acoustic fence in the position proposed would cause visual 

harm given the industrial context of the site and further details of the acoustic fence 

could be required by condition if planning permission were to be granted. 

 

5.3.7 As part of the Arboricultural Impact Assessment, there were 27 trees surveyed – 8 

were B category and the rest were C category.  The Assessment concludes that 12 

(Category C) oak trees could be transplanted to the north and north eastern corner of 

the site and the trees to be retained in situ can be protected during construction but 3 

(Category B) sycamore trees which would require removal to facilitate the 

Page 16



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

development are too large to transplant.  Therefore, there would be limited loss of 

trees as a result of the proposal and new planting could be required if planning 

permission were to be granted, including the addition of a native species hedgerows to 

the inside of the fence line proposed. 

 

5.3.8 Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, 

the Council must have special regard to the desirability of preserving the listed 

building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 

it possesses.  Similarly, Policy D3 of the approved LDP states that development 

proposals that affect a heritage asset must preserve or enhance its special character, 

appearance, setting and including its streetscape and landscape value. 

 

5.3.9 There is a grade II listed building (Heybridge Inn) located approximately 20m to the 

north of the application site and the development also has the potential to affect the 

setting of grade II listed Bentall’s Warehouse. 

 

5.3.10 The Heybridge Inn forms part of the group of Victorian buildings on the south side of 

The Street, originally known as The Queen’s Head.  It is constructed of brick, has 

sash windows, slate roofs and a carriage arch through the 3-storey part.  It is a well-

preserved and attractive element of the street scene.  The 3-storey part also features 

quite prominently in views from the application site and the sea wall footpath to the 

south of the application site. 

 

5.3.11 Bentall’s Warehouse is a remarkable monument to Heybridge’s industrial heritage.  

At 4 storeys in height and 17 bays in length, it is a landmark which can be seen for 

miles.  It is constructed of distinctive yellow brick.  The verges of its slate roof project 

forward of the gable ends in the form of broken pediments.  The form of the building 

is reminiscent of a giant classical temple. 

 

5.3.12 However, the Specialist – Conservation and Heritage raises no objection to the 

proposal, advising as follows: ‘Views of the rear of the Heybridge Inn and of Bentall’s 

Warehouse from particular points on the sea wall footpath will be obscured by the 

development. However, these views are, in my view, not important to an appreciation 

of the significance of these listed buildings, and the buildings will remain prominently 

visible from many other locations.’ 

 

5.3.13 Based on this advice and, whilst there is a degree of inter-visibility between the 

application site and the rear of the Heybridge Inn, as stated above, the development 

would visually form part of the existing industrial area which adjoins the site and the 

listed building is not in close proximity to the site.  Therefore, it is not considered that 

the development would have a materially adverse impact on the setting of the listed 

buildings. 

 

5.3.14 Based on the above, it is concluded that the development would not cause material 

harm to the character and appearance of the area or the setting of the nearby listed 

buildings. 

 

5.4 Impact on Residential Amenity 

 

5.4.1 The basis of policy D1 of the approved LDP seeks to ensure that development will 

protect the amenity of its surrounding areas taking into account privacy, overlooking, 

Page 17



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

outlook, noise, smell, light, visual impact, pollution, daylight and sunlight.  One of the 

requirements of Policy D2 is to minimise all forms of possible pollution including air, 

land, water, odour, noise and light.  The Policy states that any detrimental impacts and 

potential risks to the human and natural environment will need to be adequately 

addressed by appropriate avoidance, alleviation and mitigation measures. 

 

5.4.2 An Environmental Noise Assessment has been submitted with the application which 

advises that it is likely that initially the site will be used for the storage of domestic 

waste bins and is proposed to operate weekdays (07:00-17:00) and Saturday morning 

(07:00-12:00).  As part of the Assessment it is stated that, assuming a worst-case 

scenario of one HGV visit per hour and one LPG fork lift truck working on site for 15 

minutes per hour, the noise from site is predicted to have a “significant adverse 

impact” on neighbouring residents, using terminology from BS4142, but it is 

predicted that this could be reduced to an “adverse impact” if recommendations are 

followed.  It is stated that this would generally be regarded as acceptable for a “worst-

case” assessment in a mixed use residential/industrial area.  The recommendations are 

for the construction of an acoustic fence (of an unspecified height) along the whole of 

the north-eastern boundary returning along the majority of the north-western 

boundary of the site and the use of LPG or electric fork lift trucks as they are 

significantly quieter than diesel.  If gaps in the acoustic barrier are needed for flood 

water, sections of overlap would be required to retain the benefits of the barrier.  

 

5.4.3 The nearest residential property is 10m from the site and around 20m from the 

building proposed.  This separation distance would ensure that the development did 

not cause harm to the amenity of the occupiers of any neighbouring residential 

property by reason of dominance, loss of sunlight or loss of daylight.  Furthermore, 

whilst the building would be visible from the neighbouring residential properties, it 

would be seen in the context of the adjacent industrial estate and would not be close 

enough to result in harm through visual impact, loss of outlook or, due to the nature of 

the use and as no first-floor accommodation is proposed, a loss of privacy.  

 

5.4.4 However, the Specialist – Environmental Health previously raised concerns regarding 

the potential impact of the use of the site/building on neighbouring occupiers by 

reason of, in particular, noise.  The main source of noise would be from the loading 

and unloading of vehicles.  However, as part of the application it is stated that there 

would be no odour producing activities within the site and no uses/activities which 

would result in vibration issues arising.  The part of the site closest to neighbouring 

residential properties would be landscaped and so not in active use as part of the 

storage and distribution use proposed and no objection was raised on noise impact 

grounds to the same proposal previously (reference 10/01100/FUL).  However, that 

previous decision was taken a number of years ago and planning policy has materially 

changed since (the Government has issued the NPPF and NPPGs, the MDLDP has 

been approved and the MDDG Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD), which 

includes a technical document ‘Planning and Noise’, has been adopted).  

 

5.4.5 Having assessed the proposal in light of current policy and guidance, it is considered 

that the development (which consists of a large, open-sided building to be used for 

storage and distribution purposes only 10m from the curtilage of a dwellinghouse) has 

the potential to cause harm to the occupiers of existing, residential properties, 

particularly due to noise disturbance.  It is not considered that the imposition of the 

conditions as recommended by the Specialist – Environmental Health (relating to 

Page 18



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

hours of operation and deliveries, a construction management plan being approved, 

details of plant and machinery being approved, and an acoustic barrier being 

provided) would be sufficient to limit this harm to an acceptable degree.  As a result, 

the current proposal has not overcome the fourth reason why the previous application 

was refused.  

 

5.5 Access, Parking and Highway Safety 

 

5.5.1 Policy T2 aims to create and maintain an accessible environment, requiring 

development proposals, inter alia, to provide sufficient parking facilities having 

regard to the Council’s adopted parking standards.  Similarly, policy D1 of the 

approved LDP seeks to include safe and secure vehicle and cycle parking having 

regard to the Council’s adopted parking standards and maximising connectivity within 

the development and to the surrounding areas including the provision of high quality 

and safe pedestrian, cycle and, where appropriate, horse riding routes.  

 

5.5.2 The Council’s adopted VPS SPD contains the parking standards which are expressed 

as minimum standards.  This takes into account Government guidance which 

recognises that car usage will not be reduced by arbitrarily restricting off street 

parking spaces.  Therefore, whilst the Council maintains an emphasis of promoting 

sustainable modes of transport and widening the choice, it is recognised that the 

Maldon District is predominantly rural in nature and there is a higher than average car 

ownership.  Therefore, the minimum parking standards seek to reduce the negative 

impact unplanned on-street parking can have on the townscape and safety and take 

into account the availability of public transport and residents’ reliance on the car for 

accessing, employment, everyday services and leisure.  The key objectives of the 

standards are to help create functional developments, whilst maximising opportunities 

for use of sustainable modes of transport.  This will enable people to sustainably and 

easily carry out their daily travel requirements without an unacceptable detrimental 

impact on the local road network, or the visual appearance of the development, from 

excessive and inconsiderate on street parking.  

 

5.5.3 The Transport Statement submitted concludes that the additional vehicular trips 

generated by the proposal would not amount to a significant intensification of use of 

Bates Road and would not be considered material in terms of traffic impact.  The 

Statement also states that the proposals incorporate a suitable turning area to 

accommodate the manoeuvring requirements for service and delivery vehicles and 

parking is proposed in accordance with current Essex County Council (ECC) parking 

standards.  

 

5.5.4 The Council’s adopted parking standards for the storage and distribution (Class B8) 

use proposed are as follows:- 

 

 1 parking space per 100sq.m. 

 Cycle parking: 1 / 500m² for staff; 1 / 1000m² for visitors 

 1 lorry space per 200sq.m. 

 

5.5.5 On the basis of the 1,139sq.m. of floorspace proposed, this equates to a need to 

provide a minimum of 12 car parking spaces, 5 bicycle parking spaces and 7 lorry 

parking spaces on site.  The number of parking spaces for cars and lorries proposed 

would comply with the minimum standards.  Only an area for cycle parking has been 

Page 19



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

proposed but further details could be required by condition if planning permission 

were to be granted.  Whilst the lorry parking spaces are not of sufficient width to 

comply with the minimum of 4m required for rigid lorries, 8 spaces are proposed and 

so there would be sufficient space for 7 lorry parking spaces of the requisite width to 

be provided which could be required by condition if planning permission were to be 

granted. 

 

5.5.6 Based on the above, no objections are raised to the proposal in relation to the parking 

provision proposed and it is considered that the second reason why the previous 

application (reference 20/00388/FUL) was refused has been overcome, the 

development now complying with Policies T2, E1 and D1 of the Approved MDLDP.  

Furthermore, no objection to the development is raised by ECC Highways (subject to 

the imposition of conditions). 

 

5.6 Flood Risk and Drainage 

 

5.6.1 The site is located within Flood Zone 3b (the functional flood plain) i.e. land where 

water has to flow or be stored in times of flood. 

 

5.6.2 NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be 

avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk.  To assess that, a 

Sequential Test should be applied. 

 

“The aim of the sequential test is to steer new development to areas with the lowest 

risk of flooding. Development should not be allocated or permitted if there are 

reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed development in areas with a 

lower risk of flooding. The strategic flood risk assessment will provide the basis for 

applying this test. The sequential approach should be used in areas known to be at 

risk now or in the future from any form of flooding.” 

 

5.6.3 Policy D5 of the LDP states that the Council’s approach is to direct strategic growth 

towards lower flood risk areas, such as Flood Zone 1 as identified by the Environment 

Agency.  Where development is not located in Flood Zone 1 and in order to minimise 

the risk of flooding, it should be demonstrated that the Sequential and Exception 

Tests, where necessary, have been satisfactorily undertaken in accordance with 

national planning policy.  The Policy also requires that all development must not 

increase flood risk (including fluvial, surface and coastal) on site and elsewhere. 

 

5.6.4 Following the application of the Sequential Test, if it is not possible for the 

development to be located in zones with a lower probability of flooding, the 

Exception Test can be applied.  In accordance with the NPPF in order for the 

Exception Test to be passed the following should be demonstrated: 

 

● it must be demonstrated that the development provides wider 

sustainability benefits to the community that outweigh flood risk, 

informed by a Strategic Flood Risk Assessment where one has been 

prepared; and  

● a site-specific flood risk assessment must demonstrate that the 

development will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the 

vulnerability of its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, 

where possible, will reduce flood risk overall. 

Page 20



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

5.6.5 A site-specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted with the 

application.  It is stated that industrial schemes are suitable within Flood Zone 3 

(NPPF) and that the type of development proposed is ‘less vulnerable’ in terms of 

flood risk which is appropriate development for Flood Zone 3a.  As part of the 

Assessment it is stated that the site is protected for all events up to and including the 

1:1,000-year tidal event but that the site would experience tidal floodwater inundation 

in a 1:200 year (plus climate change) extreme event with depths of potentially 2m on-

site.  It is also noted that the site is susceptible to a breach of a nearby reservoir and 

there is also a small area susceptible to localised pluvial/surface water flooding 

although for the medium-risk (1:100-year) scenario and ground water flooding is not 

anticipated to be an issue.  The Assessment concludes that the scheme is not at risk of 

flooding from groundwater or pluvial/surface water and is adequately protected from 

fluvial and tidal sources or the breach of a nearby reservoir at present.  The 

Assessment also concludes that mitigation is required to ensure that the development 

and its occupants are safe for the lifetime of the scheme, as follows: site to be 

registered with the Environment Agency’s ‘Floodline’ service, a flood warning and 

evacuation plan is to be agreed with the Council’s Emergency Planner and the 

building is to be designed for flood resilience (which could include the ground floor 

structure being able to withstand hydro-static and hydrodynamic forces as a result of 

any breach, and the strategic positioning of fuse boxes above the design floodwater 

level, sealed systems etc. to reduce the risk of losing electrical power).  However, 

flood compensation measures are not deemed necessary and, as the building would be 

open-sided, there will be no net loss of functional floodplain.  The FRA concludes 

that  

i. The redevelopment scheme and its occupants will not be at an 

increased risk of flooding; 

ii. The redevelopment scheme will not increase the risk of flooding 

elsewhere; and 

iii. A sustainable drainage scheme can be implemented. 

 

5.6.6 Sequential Test 

 

5.6.7 The Council has identified existing and new employment land within the approved 

LDP.  Whilst there are no new sites identified in Heybridge, there are existing sites 

for Class B8 uses in Maldon and Heybridge (43.6ha at The Causeway – site E1(l) and 

4.03ha at Wycke Hill Business Park, Maldon – site E1(o)) and new sites have been 

identified within the District as a whole including nearby in Maldon (4.5ha at Wycke 

Hill (south) – site E1(r)).  Therefore, there are sites available in the District as a whole 

where land falls outside the highest risk Flood Zone and where permission could be 

obtained for Class B8 employment development.  In this respect, the applicant has 

failed to meet the requirements of the Sequential Test, contrary to Policy S1 and D5 

of the Approved MDLDP and the NPPF.  A document entitled ‘Sequential Test’ has 

been submitted which sets out the results of a search for alternative sites for the 

development proposed but this was very limited relating to the Maldon and Heybridge 

area only.  The NPPG does refer to the area to apply the Sequential Test across being 

defined by ‘local circumstances relating to the catchment area for the type of 

development proposed’ and that ‘a specific area identified for regeneration’ could be 

a Sequential Test area.  However, the PPG also states that this approach applies where 

‘there has been no sequential testing of the allocations in the development plan’ and 

so does not apply in this case. 

 

Page 21



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

5.6.8 It is noted that the Environment Agency objects to the proposal in principle because 

the proposed development falls into a flood risk vulnerability category that is 

inappropriate to the flood zone in which the site is located.  

 

5.6.9 As a result of the failure of the proposal to satisfy the Sequential Test, the proposed 

development would not be acceptable from a flood risk perspective and the first 

reason why the previous scheme was refused planning permission has not been 

overcome.  The application is recommended for refusal on this basis. 

 

5.6.10 Exceptions Test 

 

5.6.11 Given the result of the above, the local planning authority does not need to go on to 

determine whether or not the proposal meets the Exceptions Test. 

 

5.6.12 Other Drainage Issues 

 

5.6.13 Part of the FRA refers to surface water drainage and is based on an impermeable area 

of 0.22ha.  It states that agreement would be sought from the Environment Agency to 

discharge surface water run-off into the adjacent main river once planning permission 

is secured, a means of attenuation would be required (estimated to be in the region of 

126cu.m. to 170cu.m. of storage (including an additional 20% as an allowance for 

climate change impact)) and, due to the type of use proposed, mitigation to ensure 

pollution does not occur as a result of surface water drainage from the site, would be 

required.  The maintenance of the external drainage system would be carried-out by a 

maintenance company.  

 

5.6.14 However, a Drainage Strategy Report states that surface water would discharge via an 

existing surface water main which has a raised chamber on site.  This is based on a 

proposed area of approximately 3755m² (which includes the building and the yard 

area) and which is calculated as requiring 196m³ of storage to collect surface water 

run-off.  The outflow from the site could be limited to 5 l/s via a flow restriction 

device.  There is no foul water disposal on this site.  

 

5.6.15 The Specialist – Environmental Health has raised no objection to the proposal in 

relation to drainage.  Anglian Water Services have no comments to make.  A 

consultation response from Essex and Suffolk Water has not been received.  

 

5.6.16 However, the Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) team at ECC has objected 

to the proposal on the basis that there are two different drainage strategies referred to 

and it is unclear which one is proposed.  As part of the previous application 

(20/00388/FUL), the applicant confirmed that the strategy within the Drainage 

Strategy Report was the one proposed, but the SuDS Team continued to object.  The 

applicant has been provided with an opportunity to address the concerns raised by the 

SuDS Team in relation to the current application, but the following objections remain: 

 

 The drainage strategy report, accompanying calculations and drainage layout 

need to be updated to show a discharge rate of 1l/s with a minimum outfall 

diameter of 50mm for all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 plus 

climate change storm event.  

 The Davies Burton Sweetlove Ltd report should have greenfield rate 

calculations highlighted within it. 

Page 22



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

 The drainage layout should highlight where the flow control device is. 

 The surface water treatment strategy should be shown to be in line with the 

Simple Index Approach found within the CIRIA SuDS Manual C753.  In 

addition to this the swale and downstream defender may not be providing 

enough treatment as the site has a high pollution hazard level.  Further 

treatment should be provided upstream of the attenuation tank to ensure the 

attenuation tank does not lose capacity over time. 

 It is unclear if the drainage hierarchy is being adhered to. 

 

5.6.17 Taking into account the advice received from the statutory consultees, it is considered 

that issues relating to surface water drainage have not been addressed satisfactorily 

and, therefore, that there is the potential for the development to result in an increased 

risk of flooding.  It is recommended that planning permission is refused for this 

reason.  The development was previously assessed as being acceptable from a flood 

risk and drainage perspective as part of the previous application (reference 

11/01100/FUL) but national and local planning policies have materially changed since 

that time leading to a different conclusion being reached. 

 

5.6.18 Therefore, the current proposal has not overcome the third reason why the previous 

application was refused. 

 

5.7 Nature Conservation  

 

5.7.1 Policy S1 includes a requirement to conserve and enhance the natural environment, by 

providing protection and increasing local biodiversity and geodiversity, and effective 

management of the District’s green infrastructure network. 

 

5.7.2 Policy D1 requires that, amongst other things, all development must respect and 

enhance the character and local context and make a positive contribution in terms of 

the natural environment particularly in relation to designated and non-designated sites 

of biodiversity/geodiversity value (criterion f). 

 

5.7.3 Policy N1 states that open spaces and areas of significant biodiversity or historic 

interest will be protected.  There will be a presumption against any development 

which may lead to the loss, degradation, fragmentation and/or isolation of existing or 

proposed green infrastructure.  

 

5.7.4 Policy N2 states that, any development which could have an adverse impact on sites 

with designated features, priority habitats and/or protected or priority species, either 

individually or cumulatively, will require an assessment as required by the relevant 

legislation or national planning guidance.  Where any potential adverse effects to the 

conservation value or biodiversity value of designated sites are identified, the 

proposal will not normally be permitted. 

 

5.7.5 In terms of nature conservation, the impact of the development needs to be assessed in 

terms of on-site and off-site effects as the Blackwater Estuary Ramsar site, Special 

Protection Area (SPA), Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and Site of Special 

Scientific Interest (SSSI) are located around 400m to the south east of the site. 

 

Page 23



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

5.7.6 A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal has been submitted with the application which is 

based on surveys of the site carried-out in February and March 2020.  The Appraisal 

concludes that:  

 

 The development is unlikely to pose a direct risk of impact to designated sites, 

protected habitats or legally protected species and that reptiles are likely to have 

dispersed off site when the site was cleared in March 2020. 

 Pollution control measures are required to minimise the risk of impact to the 

Blackwater Estuary and associated riparian habitats.  

 A habitat offset is required since the recent clearance has resulted in the loss of 

0.63 hectares of grassland/scrub habitat, proven to support a reptile population, 

which could be secured as a condition of consent.  

 A management plan is recommended to secure the recommended enhancement 

measures to the northern and southern boundaries – reference is made to habitat 

being created within the 10m wide buffer proposed along the northern edge of the 

site and the 7m wide southern boundary bank. 

 

5.7.7 With respect to off-site impacts, Natural England (NE) have advised that they have no 

comments to make on the proposal but have provided advice in relation to foul 

drainage.  With respect to the impact of the development on nature conservation 

interests within the site, ECC Ecology has raised no objections subject to the 

imposition of conditions requiring biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures.  

Based on this and the conclusions of the Appraisal submitted, it is not anticipated that 

the proposed development would be unacceptable from an ecological point of view.  

Pollution control measures and ecological enhancement measures, along with a 

management plan, as recommended in the submitted Appraisal and by ECC Ecology, 

could be required by condition.  However, there are no current Policies which would 

justify the imposition of a condition requiring the habitat off-set recommended in the 

Appraisal in this case as the site is not formally designated for its ecological value and 

given the limited current ecological value of the site.  Therefore, no objections to the 

proposal are raised in relation to nature conservation. 

 

5.8 Other Material Considerations 

 

5.8.1 Archaeology – Policy D3 states that an appropriate assessment should be carried out 

where development might affect geological deposits, archaeology or standing 

archaeology.  ECC Archaeology have advised that the application site has the 

potential to impact on archaeological remains.  It is located on the former shore of the 

River Blackwater, between the current course of the River and one of its former 

routes which is still an earthwork feature (EHER 40168).  The River Blackwater has 

been a focus for activity from the prehistoric period onwards and there is potential for 

archaeological deposits related to the use of the estuary such as salterns, hulks, 

revetments and wharfs.  In addition, it is probable that paleoenvironmental deposits 

will be present.  Archaeological deposits are both fragile and irreplaceable and any 

permitted development on site should therefore be preceded by a programme of 

archaeological investigation which should be secured by an appropriate condition 

attached to any forthcoming planning consent.  Based on this advice, it is considered 

that the matter of archaeology could be adequately addressed through the imposition 

of conditions if planning permission were to be granted. 

  

Page 24



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

5.9 Other Matters 

 

5.9.1 Reference is made to Policy H4 in the reasons for referral, but this Policy is not 

relevant to the assessment of the proposal as it relates to housing proposals.  The 

proposal has been assessed above in relation to the other Policies referred to. 

6. ANY RELEVANT SITE HISTORY 

 FUL/MAL/96/00615 – Erection of new industrial unit in two phases including 

associated site works and parking areas.  Approved 12.12.1996.  

This 1996 permission, which was for a larger site including the Keltek 

building along Bates Road, identified the current application site as a car park.  

As the 1996 permission was implemented, planning permission for this car 

park area remains extant. 

 10/00602/FUL - Proposed open sided storage (Dutch) barn.  Refused 

19.10.2010 

 10/01100/FUL - Proposed open sided (Dutch) barn.  Approved 15.04.2011. 

The location, size and height of the building currently proposed is the same as 

that the subject of this application but the building proposed was to be used for 

the storage of inert building materials. 

 14/00576/FUL - Proposed mixed use development comprising offices, 

education centre and storage and distribution warehousing.  Refused 

09.09.2014 

 20/0388/FUL - Construction of open sided storage barn – Refused 21.08.2020  

7. CONSULTATIONS AND REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 

 

7.1 Representations received from Parish / Town Councils 

 

Name of Parish / Town 

Council 
Comment Officer Response 

Maldon Town Council Recommends approval. Noted. 

Heybridge Parish Council 

No objection – pleased to 

see the reduction in the 

size and the amendment is 

in keeping with the nature 

of the site. 

Noted. 

 

7.2 Statutory Consultees and Other Organisations  

 

Name of Statutory 

Consultee / Other 

Organisation 

Comment Officer Response 

Natural England 

Provides advice regarding 

foul drainage in relation to 

the nearby Blackwater 

SSSI  

Noted – refer to section 5.7 

of report. 

Environment Agency 
Objects in principle because 

the proposed development 

falls into a flood risk 

Noted – refer to section 5.6 

of report. 

Page 25



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

Name of Statutory 

Consultee / Other 

Organisation 

Comment Officer Response 

vulnerability category that 

is inappropriate to the flood 

zone in which the site is 

located. 

ECC SuDS Team Holding objection.  
Noted – refer to section 5.6 

of report. 

ECC Archaeology 

No objections subject to 

the imposition of 

conditions. 

Noted – refer to section 5.8 

of report. 

ECC Ecology 

No objections subject to 

securing biodiversity 

mitigation and 

enhancement measures. 

Noted – refer to section 5.7 

of report. 

ECC Highways 

No objection subject to the 

imposition of conditions 

requiring all loading / 

unloading / reception and 

storage of building 

materials and the 

manoeuvring of all 

vehicles, including 

construction traffic being 

undertaken within the 

application site, clear of 

the public highway, and 

that the public's rights and 

ease of passage over 

footpath number 45 in 

Maldon are maintained 

free and unobstructed at all 

times. 

Noted – refer to section 5.5 

of report. 

Anglian Water Services No comments. Noted. 

Essex and Suffolk Water No response.  

 

7.3 Internal Consultees  

 

Name of Internal 

Consultee 
Comment Officer Response 

Specialist – Environmental 

Health 
No response.  

Specialist – Heritage and 

Conservation 

No objection – the 

development would not 

harm the significance of 

the nearby listed buildings. 

Noted – refer to section 

5.3 of report. 

Tree Consultant No response.  

  

Page 26



 

Agenda Item no. 5 

7.4 Representations received from Interested Parties  

 

7.4.1 10 letters were received objecting to the application and the reasons for objection are 

summarised as set out in the table below: 

 

Objection Comment Officer Response 

Noise nuisance to property which is less 

than 10m from the proposed 

development – acoustic barrier falls 

short of rear of their property 

Noted – refer to section 5.4 of report. 

Would impact on wildlife – wildlife 

already impacted when site cleared 
Noted – refer to section 5.7 of report. 

Unclear what would be stored on site – 

concern regarding odours and vermin if 

to be waste 

Noted – refer to section 5.4 of report. 

Concern regarding light pollution and 

nuisance 
Noted – refer to section 5.4 of report. 

Within high flood risk area and flood 

plain 
Noted – refer to section 5.6 of report. 

Pollution and vibration from heavy 

vehicles/plant movements 
Noted – refer to section 5.4 of report. 

Would exacerbate traffic congestion in 

and around Bates Road 
Noted – refer to section 5.5 of report. 

Would devalue properties 
This is not a material planning 

consideration. 

Would affect outlook and light to rear of 

property 
Noted – refer to section 5.4 of report. 

Potential pollution of brook from run-off Noted – refer to section 5.6 of report. 

8. PROPOSED REASONS FOR REFUSAL 

 

1 The applicant has failed to meet the requirements of the flood risk Sequential 

Test and, therefore, the proposal is unacceptable on flood risk grounds, 

contrary to Policies S1 and D5 of the approved Maldon District Local 

Development Plan and the NPPF. 

 

2 It has not been demonstrated to the satisfaction of the local planning authority 

that an adequate means of surface water drainage would be provided and that 

the development would not result in an increase in flood risk, contrary to 

Policy D5 of the approved Maldon District Local Development Plan and the 

NPPF. 

 

3 The development (which consists of a large, open-sided building to be used 

for storage and distribution purposes, given its proximity to the curtilage of a 

dwellinghouse) has the potential to cause harm to the occupiers of existing, 

residential properties, particularly due to noise disturbance, contrary to 

Policies D1 and D2 of the Maldon District Approved Local Development 

Plan, the NPPF and the Maldon District Design Guide SPD. 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Agenda Item no. 6 

Our Vision: Sustainable Council – Prosperous Future 

REPORT of 

DIRECTOR OF SERVICE DELIVERY 

to 

CENTRAL AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 

31 MARCH 2021 

 

Application Number 21/00064/HOUSE 

Location 21 Essex Road, Maldon, CM3 2HQ 

Proposal Single storey front, rear & side extensions 

Applicant Mr & Miss Hughes & Prest 

Agent Mr John Frith 

Target Decision Date 19.03.2021 

Case Officer Hayleigh Parker-Haines 

Parish MALDON WEST 

Reason for Referral to the 

Committee / Council 

Member call in from Councillor N G F Shaughnessy 

Reason: D1 and H4 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

 

APPROVE subject to conditions, detailed in Section 8 of this report. 

 

2. SITE MAP 

 

Please see below. 

 

  

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



 

Agenda Item no. 6 

   

 

 

 

 

Page 30



 

Agenda Item no. 6 

3. SUMMARY 

 

3.1 Proposal / brief overview, including any relevant background information 

 

3.1.1 The application site is located to the eastern side of Essex Road and falls within the 

settlement boundary of Maldon.  The site is occupied by a two storey semi-detached 

dwellinghouse with an attached outbuilding to the east.  The surrounding area is 

predominately residential. 

 

3.1.2 Planning permission is sought for the construction of a single storey front extension, 

and a wrap around side and rear extension.  The proposed front extension would be to 

the southern end of the front elevation, it would have a maximum height of 3.08 

metres with an eaves height of 2.2 metres, a width of 2.53 metres and a depth of 1.25 

metres.  This would accommodate a porch. 

 

3.1.3 The proposed wrap around side and rear extension would have a maximum height of 

3 metres with an eaves height of 2.2 metres; this would project 3.8 metres from the 

southern side elevation, have a width of 9.78 metres at the rear, project 4 metres from 

the rear elevation of the dwelling with a total depth of 8.62 metres.  To the front this 

would have a lean to style roof, which to the side would become a flat roof with a lean 

to roof to the rear.  The roof to the northern side of the rear elevation would be a lean 

to roof with a maximum height of 3.67 metres with an eaves height of 2.13 metres.  

This would accommodate a utility room, WC, garage, home office and an extension to 

the kitchen. 

 

3.1.4 The proposed extensions would be constructed of materials to match the host 

dwelling.  

 

3.1.5 It should be noted that this application is a re-submission of the previously refused 

application 20/01068/HOUSE which sought permission for the construction of a two 

storey side extension and a single storey front and rear extension.  This application 

was refused for the following reason: 

 

‘The proposed development, due to its scale, siting and positioning would be 

unacceptable as it would materially harm and detract from the character and 

appearance of the area as well as the host dwelling, contrary to policies D1 and H4 

of the Maldon District Local Development Plan and guidance contained within the 

National Planning Policy Framework’ 

 

3.1.6 The following revisions have been made as part of this application: 

 

 The two storey aspect of the proposal has been removed, under this 

application all proposed works are single storey in nature. 

 

3.2 Conclusion 

 

3.2.1 It is considered that the proposed development, by reason of its location and design 

would not harm the appearance or character of the locality and due to its relationship 

with the adjoining properties, would not result in any undue harm by way of 

overlooking or loss of amenity.  In addition the proposed development would not 

materially impact on the provision of amenity space and car parking provision.  It is 

Page 31



 

Agenda Item no. 6 

therefore considered that the proposed development is in accordance with the relevant 

policies contained within the Local Development Plan (LDP). 

4. MAIN RELEVANT POLICIES 

 

Members’ attention is drawn to the list of background papers attached to the agenda. 

 

4.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 including paragraphs: 

 7  Sustainable development 

 8  Three objectives of sustainable development 

 10-12  Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

 38   Decision-making 

 47-50  Determining applications  

 117-123 Making effective use of Land 

 124-132 Achieving well-designed places 

 

4.2 Maldon District Local Development Plan 2014 – 2029 approved by the Secretary 

of State: 

 S1 Sustainable Development  

 S8 Settlement Boundaries and the Countryside  

 D1 Design Quality and Built Environment 

 H4 Effective Use of Land 

 T1 Sustainable Transport 

 T2 Accessibility 

 

4.3 Relevant Planning Guidance / Documents: 

 Maldon District Vehicle Parking Standards SPD (VPS) 

 Maldon District Design Guide SPD (MDDG) 

 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

 

5. MAIN CONSIDERATIONS 

 

5.1 Principle of Development 

 

5.1.1 The principle of extending the existing dwellinghouse is considered acceptable in line 

with policies S1 and H4 of the approved LDP. 

 

5.2 Design and Impact on the Character of the Area 

 

5.2.1 The planning system promotes high quality development through good inclusive 

design and layout, and the creation of safe, sustainable, liveable and mixed 

communities.  Good design should be indivisible from good planning.  Recognised 

principles of good design seek to create a high quality built environment for all types 

of development. 

 

5.2.2 It should be noted that good design is fundamental to high quality new development 

and its importance is reflected in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  

Similar support for high quality design and the appropriate layout, scale and detailing 

Page 32



 

Agenda Item no. 6 

of development is required by Policy D1 and H4 of the LDP and is found within the 

MDDG (2017). 

 

5.2.3 A successful development needs to integrate well with the existing streetscene.  

Visual cues such as rhythm, proportions and alignments taken from adjacent buildings 

should be used to inform the design of the development. 

 

5.2.4 Essex Road is predominately characterised by pairs of semi-detached dwellings with 

link attached garages; these maintain a degree of openness to the surrounding area as a 

result in the break in built form along the road.  It is noted that the neighbouring 

property to the south has a first floor extension over the garage which reduces the gap 

between the host dwelling and No.23 to the south. 

 

5.2.5 The proposed single storey front extension would be visible within the surrounding 

area.  However, it is considered to be a subservient addition to the property, due to its 

single storey nature and that it would occupy a footprint of 3.16m
2
.  Furthermore, this 

would be constructed of materials to match the host dwelling and would have a lean to 

style roof which is reflective of similar front extensions found within the surrounding 

area.  It should be noted this extension is only marginally larger than what could be 

built under permitted development; this is a material consideration in the 

determination of this application. 

 

5.2.6 The proposed single storey rear aspect to the wrap around extension would not be 

highly visible within the surrounding area and is therefore considered to have a 

limited impact on the streetscene.  It is proposed with a mono pitch roof extending to 

the underside of the first floor windowsill, however, due to the single storey nature of 

the design, it is considered that this aspect of the proposal would be a subservient 

addition to the host dwelling. 

 

5.2.7 The proposed single storey side aspect of the wrap around extension would be visible 

from the street but not to an extent that would be significantly different from what 

exists currently.  The side extension would be similarly set back and replace the 

existing single storey side projection and is designed with a mono pitch roof to the 

front matching that of the neighbouring property to the south.  This is considered to be 

of a sympathetic design and therefore would not represent an incongruous feature 

within the streetscene.  It is noted that the Town Council have raised concerns in 

relation to the proposal resulting in a terracing effect, however, it should be noted that 

the existing garage already occupies this space and links the two dwellings; the 

proposed side extension would not alter this relationship or result in a further 

‘terracing’ effect than that which exists currently. 

 

5.2.8 Taking into account the above assessment it is considered that the proposed revision 

to remove the first floor to the side extension has overcome the concerns raised under 

the previous application.  As such, the proposed development, by reasons of its scale, 

design and appearance would not result in a demonstrable harm to the character and 

appearance of the locality and would maintain the character and setting of the listed 

building in accordance with policies D1 and H4of the LDP. 

 

  

Page 33



 

Agenda Item no. 6 

5.3 Impact on Residential Amenity 

 

5.3.1 The basis of policy D1 of the approved LDP seeks to ensure that development will 

protect the amenity of its surrounding areas taking into account privacy, overlooking, 

outlook, noise, smell, light, visual impact, pollution, daylight and sunlight.  This is 

supported by section C07 of the MDDG.  Similarly, policy D2 of the approved LDP 

requires all development to minimize all forms of possible pollution including air, 

land, water, odour, noise and light.  Any detrimental impacts and potential risks to the 

human and natural environment will need to be adequately addressed by appropriate 

avoidance, alleviation and mitigation measures. 

 

5.3.2 The application site is bordered by six neighbouring properties.  To the north is No.19 

Essex Road, to the east are No.19 and No.21 Gloucester Avenue, to the south is No. 

23 Essex Road and to the west are No. 30 and No.32 Essex Road. 

 

5.3.3 The proposed single storey front extension is not considered to represent an 

unneighbourly form of development in relation to any neighbouring properties due to 

the minor nature of the development. 

 

5.3.4 The proposed single storey rear extension would sit on the shared boundary with 

No.19 Essex Road.  It is noted that this neighbouring property benefits from a flat 

roof rear extension and a conservatory which also sits close to the shared boundary 

with the application site.  The proposed single storey rear extension would project 

approximately 1 metre from the flat roof aspect of the neighbouring rear extension 

and would be set back approximately 2 metres from the rear elevation of the 

conservatory.  Due to the built form at the neighbouring property, it is not considered 

that the proposed extension would have an overbearing impact on this neighbouring 

property or that it would result in an unacceptable loss of light to the neighbouring 

occupiers.  Furthermore, due to the single storey nature it is not considered that the 

proposed single storey rear extension would result in a loss of privacy to this 

neighbouring property, it is noted that three roof lights are proposed to the rear 

roofslope of this aspect of the proposal.  However, due to their location it is not 

considered that these would offer any views of the neighbouring amenity space. 

 

5.3.5 The proposed developments would sit a minimum of 21.3 metres from the shared 

boundary with the neighbouring properties to the east (rear extension and side 

extension) and over 30 metres from the closest of these properties (No. 23 Gloucester 

Avenue).  Due to this degree of separation, it is not considered that the proposed 

developments would represent an unneighbourly form of development in relation to 

either of these neighbouring properties.  

  
5.3.6 The proposed side extension would sit on the shared boundary with No.23 Essex 

Road.  It is noted that the neighbouring property benefits from a two storey side 

extension.  There are no windows on the northern side elevation of this neighbouring 

property facing the application site and the proposed rear elevation of the extension 

would not project further than the rear elevation of this neighbouring property.  

Therefore, it is not considered that the proposal would result in an unacceptable loss 

of light to this neighbouring property or that it would have an overbearing impact on 

these neighbouring occupiers.  Furthermore, due to the single storey nature of the 

proposed development, it is not considered that this would result in a loss of privacy 

Page 34



 

Agenda Item no. 6 

to these neighbouring occupiers.  

 

5.3.7 Therefore, it is not considered that the development would represent an unneighbourly 

form of development or give rise to overlooking or overshadowing, in accordance 

with the stipulations of Policy D1 of the LDP 

 

5.4 Access, Parking and Highway Safety 

 

5.4.1 Policy T1 of the approved LDP seeks to create additional sustainable transport 

opportunities.  Policy T2 aims to create and maintain an accessible environment, 

requiring development proposals, inter alia, to provide sufficient parking facilities 

having regard to the Council’s adopted parking standards.  Similarly, policy D1 of the 

approved LDP seeks to include safe and secure vehicle and cycle parking having 

regard to the Council’s adopted parking standards and maximise connectivity within 

the development and to the surrounding areas including the provision of high quality 

and safe pedestrian, cycle and, where appropriate, horse riding routes.  

 

5.4.2 The proposed extension would have no impact upon car parking requirements on site 

as no additional bedrooms are proposed.  There is sufficient hardstanding to the front 

of the dwelling to accommodate parking provision for two vehicles.  The proposal 

includes the provision of a garage.  This would have internal measurements of 2.5 

metres by 5.5 metres.  These fall short of the requirement of the SPD of 3 metres by 6 

metres, but the proposed garage is larger than the existing garage which has internal 

measurements of 2.5 metres by 5 metres.  Whilst the garage would not provide 

garaging space for one vehicle in accordance with the Council’s standards, it is an 

improvement to the existing parking provision provided on site and it can 

accommodate a reasonable sized car; furthermore, as stated, there are no additional 

bedrooms proposed.  Therefore, it is considered that a refusal of this application on 

the shortfall to the parking standards could not be reasonably sustained based on the 

assessment above.  In this respect the application results in no conflict with policy. 

 

5.5 Private Amenity Space and Landscaping 

 

5.5.1 Policy D1 of the approved LDP requires all development to provide sufficient and 

usable private and public amenity spaces, green infrastructure and public open spaces.  

In addition, the adopted MDDG advises a suitable garden size for each type of 

dwellinghouse, namely 100m
2
 of private amenity space for dwellings with three or 

more bedrooms, 50m
2
 for smaller dwellings and 25m

2
 for flats. 

 

5.5.2 Whilst the proposed development would reduce the size of the garden it would not 

result in the level of private amenity space being below the minimum standard 

recommended in the Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD).  Therefore, the 

proposal is in compliance with Policy D1 of the LDP. 

6. ANY RELEVANT SITE HISTORY 

 

Application 

Number 
Description Decision 

61/00097/5/MAB Residential Development Approved 

20/01068/HOUSE 
Single storey front & rear, two storey side 

extensions 
Refused 

Page 35



 

Agenda Item no. 6 

7. CONSULTATIONS AND REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 

 

7.1 Representations received from Parish / Town Councils 

 

Name of Parish / Town 

Council 
Comment Officer Response 

Maldon Town Council 

The Town Council 

recommends refusal due 

to the scale and bulk of 

the proposal. The 

application represents a 

dominant incongruous 

feature leading to a 

cramped/terraced 

appearance. Its 

positioning would lead to 

unacceptable material 

harm to neighbouring 

properties habitable 

residential amenity.  

Comments noted and 

discussed in section 5.2 

and 5.3 of the Officers 

report 

 

7.2 Representations received from Interested Parties: 
 

7.2.1 Representations objecting to the application: 

 

One letter of objection has been received raising the following matters: 

 

Objecting Comment Officer Response 

The proposed rear extension would impinge 

on the conservatory to the north and would 

block some light 

Comments noted 

 

7.2.2 Representations commenting the application:  

 

Two letters of comment have been received raising the following matters: 

 

Comment Officer Response 

The original application included a 2 storey 

side extension, this has now been amended 

so the proposal is now single storey.  How 

can the Town recommend refusal for lesser 

works when they recommended approval of 

the previous application 

Comments noted. 

Due to the proximity of the development to 

the neighbouring property to south, it is 

hoped a condition will be included in any 

approval notice requesting care is taken to 

ensure any damage to this property will be 

rectified 

Comments noted, however, this is not 

something that planning legislation 

allows control over and would be 

civil matter. 

Page 36



 

Agenda Item no. 6 

8. RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS 

 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 

REASON To comply with Section 91(1) The Town & Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended). 

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and retained in 

accordance with the following approved plans and documents: 

TQRQM20294134614496, FBD00216/03 REV A, FBD00216/01 and 

FBD00216/02 REV C 

REASON To ensure that the development is carried out and retained in 

accordance with the details as approved. 

3 The materials used in the construction of the development hereby approved 

shall be as set out within the application form/plans hereby approved. 

REASON In the interest of the character and appearance of the area in 

accordance with policy D1 of the approved Local Development Plan and 

guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting
	Minutes

	5 20/01315/FUL - Land Adjacent Heybridge House Industrial Estate, Bates Road, Maldon, Essex
	6 21/00064/HOUSE - 21 Essex Road, Maldon, CM3 2HQ

